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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE  

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

 

COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING 

COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MICHAEL THOMAS NOWAK AND 

GREGG FRANCIS SMITH, 

Defendants. 

Case No. 19-cv-06163 

Hon. Robert M. Dow, Jr. 

DEFENDANT MICHAEL NOWAK’S OPPOSITION 

TO UNITED STATES’ MOTION TO INTERVENE AND TO STAY 

Defendant Michael Nowak respectfully submits this memorandum of law in opposition to 

the motion of the United States to intervene in and to stay this action in its entirety until the 

conclusion of criminal proceedings in United States v. Smith., No. 19-cr-00669 (N.D. Ill.) (the 

“Stay Motion”).  Dkt. No. 31.  For the reasons set forth herein, the Stay Motion should be 

denied.  Mr. Nowak respectfully submits that the Court should instead stay this action except for 

document discovery, including third-party discovery, which should proceed. 

I.  INTRODUCTION 

On September 16, 2019, Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the 

“CFTC”) filed this action against Defendants Michael Nowak and Gregg Smith (the “CFTC 

Case”).  That same day, the U.S. Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) unsealed a criminal 
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indictment against them and a third individual (the “Criminal Case”).
1
  Now—despite having 

closely coordinated with the CFTC to bring virtually simultaneous charges against Mr. Nowak 

and Mr. Smith—the DOJ seeks a complete stay of the CFTC Case, through the conclusion of the 

Criminal Case (in which no trial date has yet been set).  Principally, the DOJ seeks to avoid the 

purported risk that the defendants, by availing themselves of the civil discovery process to which 

they are entitled, may somehow “circumvent” the criminal discovery rules and thereby 

compromise the Criminal Case.  Dkt. No. 31, at 13. 

Courts have uniformly held that a stay is appropriate only in unique circumstances, and 

where necessary to avoid significant prejudice.  The defendants’ use of civil discovery rules to 

obtain the discovery to which they are entitled—solely as a result of the CFTC and DOJ’s 

concerted decision to charge them both civilly and criminally—does not pose a risk of 

cognizable prejudice or harm to the government, and does not justify the extensive stay the DOJ 

seeks.  Indeed, the requested stay, if granted, would prejudice the defendants by substantially 

delaying the time-consuming process of discovery in the CFTC Case, which in turn will further 

prolong and delay a resolution of this action. 

A more limited stay, permitting document discovery to proceed but otherwise pausing the 

action, would better balance the competing interests of the parties and the public.  Such a stay 

would protect the criminal process as well as the defendants’ rights, but also vindicate the 

defendants’ interests in proceeding as expeditiously as possible to resolve the CFTC Case. 

                                                 
1
  As noted below, the DOJ filed a superseding indictment in the Criminal Case on November 14, 2019, charging a 

fourth defendant. 
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Mr. Nowak therefore does not oppose the DOJ’s request to intervene for the limited 

purpose of seeking a stay,
2
 but opposes the request to stay the CFTC Case entirely, and 

respectfully submits that this Court should permit document discovery to proceed while 

otherwise staying this action.  This outcome is consistent with that of a recent stay motion in a 

similarly situated case in this district, involving similar allegations.  See C.F.T.C. v. Vorley, No. 

18-cv-00603, Dkt. Nos. 42–43 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 16, 2018) (Pallmeyer, C.J.) (staying the action but 

allowing document discovery to proceed) (included as Exhibit A and Exhibit B to Declaration of 

David Meister).
3
 

II.  STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The CFTC complaint, filed on September 16, 2019, alleges that, from 2008 through 2015, 

Mr. Nowak and Mr. Smith engaged in spoofing, in violation of 7 U.S.C. § 6c(a)(5)(C), market 

manipulation, in violation of 7 U.S.C. § 9(1) and related regulations, and attempted price 

manipulation, in violation of 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2).  Dkt. No. 1.  A fourteen-count criminal 

indictment unsealed on the same date (and superseded on November 14, 2019), alleges that, from 

2008 through 2016, the defendants participated in two conspiracies (a racketeering conspiracy 

and a conspiracy to commit price manipulation, bank fraud, wire fraud, commodities fraud, and 

spoofing) and violated statutes prohibiting attempted price manipulation, bank fraud, wire fraud, 

                                                 
2
  See S.E.C. v. Holcom, No. 12-CV-01623-H (JMA), 2013 WL 12073831, at *2 (S.D. Cal. Sept. 6, 2013) (noting 

that “it would probably not be appropriate for the criminal arm of the United States government to become 

substantially involved in this . . . case” and therefore granting permissive intervention “for the limited purpose of 

seeking a stay in the civil action”). 

3
  Defendant Gregg Smith proposes that this Court decline to impose a stay in this matter and asks that discovery 

from parties and witnesses that implicates a valid Fifth Amendment privilege be deferred until the conclusion of 

the Criminal Case.  Mr. Nowak does not object to this proposal, on the condition that he not be required to take 

any actions—such as responding to pleadings, answering interrogatories, or being deposed—that implicate his 

Fifth Amendment right not to be a witness against himself.  (As the Supreme Court has repeatedly emphasized, 

“one of the Fifth Amendment’s ‘basic functions . . . is to protect innocent men . . . who otherwise might be 

ensnared by ambiguous circumstances.’”  Ohio v. Reiner, 532 U.S. 17, 21 (2001) (internal quotation marks 

omitted) (quoting Grunewald v. United States, 353 U.S. 391, 421 (1957)); see also Ullmann v. United States, 350 

U.S. 422, 426 (1956).) 
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commodities fraud, and spoofing.  See generally United States v. Smith, No. 19-cr-00669, Dkt. 

No. 52 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 14, 2019) (“Superseding Indictment”). 

Both the CFTC complaint and the Superseding Indictment allege spoofing in the 

precious-metals futures markets over a lengthy and substantially overlapping time period.  The 

Superseding Indictment also alleges that the defendants engaged in so-called “barrier running” 

and “barrier defending” with respect to precious-metals options, and that they made false 

statements to conceal their activities from their employer, and in connection with a CFTC 

inquiry and a CME Group inquiry.  Superseding Indictment ¶¶ 27, 40–44.  Two additional 

defendants, Christopher Jordan and Jeffrey Ruffo, are charged in the Criminal Case but not in the 

CFTC Case, and the Superseding Indictment makes reference to seven unidentified alleged co-

conspirators, none of whom have been charged in the CFTC complaint.  Id. ¶ 21. 

Obviously working jointly on timing, the CFTC and DOJ announced their respective 

charges within a few hours of each other on the morning of September 16, 2019.  They 

acknowledged one another’s assistance and held a joint press conference call later that day to 

publicize their parallel actions.
4
  On October 31, 2019, the DOJ filed the instant Stay Motion, 

seeking to stay the CFTC Case entirely, through the conclusion of the Criminal Case (in which 

no trial date has yet been set).  The CFTC does not oppose the Stay Motion. 

III.  ARGUMENT 

A court has discretion to stay a civil action pending resolution of criminal proceedings 

“when the interests of justice” require it.  United States v. Kordel, 397 U.S. 1, 12 n.27 (1970).  A 

“stay contemplates ‘special circumstances’ and the need to avoid substantial and irreparable 

                                                 
4
  U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n, Remarks of Director of Enforcement James McDonald During 

CFTC–DOJ Press Conference Call, CFTC.gov (Sept. 16, 2019), 

www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/opamcdonald4. 
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prejudice.”  Benevolence Int’l Found., Inc. v. Ashcroft, 200 F. Supp. 2d 935, 938 (N.D. Ill. 2002) 

(Alesia, J.) (quoting United States v. Certain Real Prop., Commonly Known as 6250 Ledge Rd., 

943 F.2d 721, 729 (7th Cir. 1991)).  In determining whether a stay will issue, courts must 

balance “the competing interests of plaintiffs, defendants, and the public.”  Salcedo v. City of 

Chicago, No. 09-cv-05354, 2010 WL 2721864, at *2 (N.D. Ill. July 8, 2010) (Dow, J.).  Courts 

generally consider the following non-exhaustive factors in making that determination: “(1) 

whether the civil and criminal proceedings involve the same subject matter; (2) whether the 

government has initiated both proceedings; (3) the posture of the criminal proceeding; (4) the 

effect on the public interest of granting or denying a stay; (5) the interest of Plaintiffs in 

proceeding expeditiously, and the potential prejudice that Plaintiffs may suffer from a delay; and 

(6) the burden that any particular aspect of the civil case may impose on Defendants if a stay is 

denied.”  Id.; see also Cruz v. County of DuPage, No. 96 C 7170, 1997 WL 370194, at *2–4 

(N.D. Ill. June 27, 1997) (Coar, J.) (same). 

Courts also consider the defendants’ interests in resolving civil enforcement charges 

against them expeditiously, particularly where government agencies have charged them with 

“serious violations” entailing grave consequences.  See S.E.C. v. Fraser, No. CV-09-00443-

PHX-GMS, 2009 WL 1531854, at *3 (D. Ariz. June 1, 2009) (noting a defendant’s “strong 

interest in being able to defend [himself] against [a government agency’s] allegations as quickly 

as possible”).  Where the government has chosen to proceed with civil and criminal cases in 

parallel and then promptly seeks to stay the civil action, courts have been skeptical of claims that 

the government is prejudiced by proceeding simultaneously.  See S.E.C. v. O’Neill, 98 F. Supp. 

3d 219, 223–24 (D. Mass. 2015) (“If the [DOJ] and [another government agency] choose to 
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bring parallel civil and criminal cases close in time to each other, then each entity must be 

prepared to go ahead with its case on a usual schedule.”). 

Courts also consider the potential prejudice to a defendant forced to defend concurrent 

criminal and civil actions brought by government agencies.  See Chagolla v. City of Chicago, 

529 F. Supp. 2d 941, 945 (N.D. Ill. 2008) (Kennelly, J.).  In particular, courts have taken steps to 

avoid requiring a defendant to choose between making statements in the civil case that could be 

used against him in the criminal case, or potentially suffering an adverse inference if he refuses 

to answer questions at a deposition.  See Hare v. Custable, No. 07-CV-3742, 2008 WL 1995062, 

at *1 (N.D. Ill. May 6, 2008) (Dow, J.). 

Taken together, the above-referenced factors do not justify the extensive stay that the 

DOJ seeks here—particularly with respect to document discovery.  The DOJ’s Stay Motion fails 

to acknowledge that an extensive delay of discovery in the CFTC Case, which will in turn delay 

a resolution of this action, will harm the defendants, who have an interest in confronting the 

serious allegations against them and clearing their names as soon as is reasonably possible.  

Likewise, the public has an interest in an appropriately expeditious resolution of this action. 

Furthermore, the DOJ’s argument that discovery should be stayed relies on the entirely 

speculative claim that the defendants may compromise the Criminal Case merely by seeking the 

discovery to which they are entitled by virtue of the CFTC and DOJ’s concerted decision to 

charge them in parallel civil and criminal actions.  The DOJ fails to identify any facts supporting 

the assertion that the Criminal Case is at risk, and such speculative harm should not be deemed a 

cognizable injury to the government where, as here, the government has chosen to proceed in 

parallel actions.  And even assuming a potential risk to the Criminal Case, any risk is 
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significantly reduced in light of Mr. Nowak’s proposal that document discovery proceed while 

the remainder of this matter is stayed. 

A. The DOJ, Having Coordinated with the CFTC to Bring Parallel Actions, Cannot 

Now Argue That Civil Discovery Would Somehow Compromise Its Case 

Where government agencies choose to proceed simultaneously in parallel civil and 

criminal actions, courts have routinely denied requests to stay the civil action based on the 

government’s speculation that the defendants “could” use the civil discovery process to 

compromise the criminal case.  See, e.g., O’Neill, 98 F. Supp. 3d at 221–22 (denying stay sought 

on the basis of speculative risk to criminal investigation posed by civil discovery); Fraser, 2009 

WL 1531854, at *2 (finding the government’s “conclusory allegation that the criminal case 

might be harmed simply because civil discovery rules are more broad than criminal discovery 

rules” insufficient “to establish the ‘substantial prejudice’ that is necessary to warrant granting a 

stay”) (citation omitted); S.E.C. v. Cioffi, No. 08-CV-2457 (FB)(WP), 2008 WL 4693320, at *1 

(E.D.N.Y. Oct. 23, 2008) (denying stay sought on the basis of nonspecific risk that “broad 

discovery in the civil case [could] compris[e] the criminal case”); see also S.E.C. v. Sandifur, 

No. C05-1631 C, 2006 WL 3692611, at *3 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 11, 2006) (discounting the 

government’s speculative concern that the defendants might “use the civil discovery process to 

obtain discovery that is not authorized in a criminal case,” given the government’s decision to 

proceed with parallel civil and criminal actions). 

In the absence of “concrete concerns” pertaining to an ongoing investigation or 

prosecution, courts have refused to treat as a “cognizable harm” the possibility that “civil 

discovery . . . could give a criminal defendant information earlier than the government would 

otherwise be required to disclose.”  O’Neill, 98 F. Supp. 3d at 221–22; see also Fraser, 2009 WL 

1531854, at *3 (stay not warranted where civil discovery would provide a defendant with more 
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information than the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, at that stage of the case).  Courts have 

recognized that such purported harm is merely the loss of a “tactical advantage” to which the 

government believes it is entitled, and have rejected stay motions sought on that basis.  See id.; 

see also O’Neill, 98 F. Supp. 3d at 221–22; see also S.E.C. v. Oakford Corp., 181 F.R.D. 269, 

273 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (“[T]here is no cognizable harm to the government in providing such 

discovery beyond its desire to maintain a tactical advantage.”). 

Courts are particularly skeptical of government claims of prejudice where, as here, “the 

government is responsible for the simultaneous proceedings.”  Cioffi, 2008 WL 4693320, at *1.  

As one court has observed, “[a]lthough courts have been receptive to Government stay requests 

in civil cases brought by parties other than the Government, results in recent years have been 

markedly different when the Government itself brings a civil lawsuit simultaneous with a 

criminal proceeding.”  Sandifur, 2006 WL 3692611, at *2.  In that context, courts have held the 

government responsible for the consequences of its charging decisions:  “If the [DOJ] and 

[another government agency] choose to bring parallel civil and criminal cases close in time to 

each other, then each entity must be prepared to go ahead with its case on a usual schedule.”  

O’Neill, 98 F. Supp. 3d at 223–24; see also S.E.C. v. Saad, 229 F.R.D. 90, 91 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) 

(“[I]t is strange[] . . . that the U.S. Attorney’s Office, having closely coordinated with the SEC in 

bringing simultaneous civil and criminal actions against some hapless defendant, should then 

wish to be relieved of the consequences that will flow if the two actions proceed 

simultaneously.”).   

Consistent with that position, courts generally disregard the argument that the 

“inconvenience” that comes with concurrent proceedings rises to the level of prejudice 

warranting a stay, especially when that “inconvenience [was] in part created by the 

Case: 1:19-cv-06163 Document #: 38 Filed: 11/27/19 Page 8 of 14 PageID #:104



 

9 

 

[government’s] institution of the simultaneous actions.”  F.T.C. v. Johnson, No. 2:10-cv-02203-

MMD-GWF, 2013 WL 3155311, at *3 (D. Nev. June 19, 2013); see also United States v. Gieger 

Transfer Serv., Inc., 174 F.R.D. 382, 385 (S.D. Miss. 1997) (explaining that the requested stay 

was not “necessary to avoid prejudice” where “the Government . . . created the conflict between 

the civil and criminal cases by simultaneously filing those actions”).  Furthermore, even if the 

DOJ could point to a risk of prejudice beyond its anticipated “inconvenience,” any risk of 

prejudice to the government’s investigation and prosecution is substantially reduced where, as 

here, the investigation is complete and charges have been brought.  See O’Neill, 98 F. Supp. 3d 

at 222. 

The DOJ has failed to point to any specific facts in support of its argument that allowing 

the defendants to use the civil discovery process in the ordinary course here would somehow 

compromise the parallel Criminal Case.  The DOJ has not articulated with precision the aspects 

of its investigation (which presumably is completed or substantially so) or prosecution that might 

be compromised, or how the defendants’ civil discovery requests might compromise it.
5
  Dkt. 

No. 31, at 13.  Thus the only plausible conclusion is that the DOJ seeks a complete stay of this 

action merely to maintain a tactical advantage—that is, to prevent the defendants from obtaining 

information in civil discovery—which is not sufficient grounds for granting a stay.  See O’Neill, 

98 F. Supp. 3d at 222.  Furthermore, whatever speculative harm is contemplated by the DOJ, that 

potential harm would be considerably reduced if this Court stays this matter except as to 

document discovery, as Mr. Nowak proposes. 

                                                 
5
  The DOJ identifies one specific concern involving co-defendant Christopher Jordan, a defendant in the Criminal 

Case, claiming that he might monitor civil depositions and use them to his advantage in that case.  Dkt. No. 31, 

at 14.  But given Mr. Nowak’s request for a limited stay permitting only document discovery, there is no basis 

for that concern.   
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The cases on which the DOJ relies in support of its argument that civil discovery could 

somehow compromise the criminal process do not call for a contrary result.  As an initial matter, 

most of these cases involved stays that the defendants sought or agreed to, in civil actions in 

which the government either was a defendant or was not a party at all.  See, e.g., Chagolla, 529 

F. Supp. 2d 941; Grubbs v. Irey, Civ. S-06-1714 RRB GGH, 2008 WL 906246 (E.D. Cal. Mar. 

31, 2008); Benevolence Int’l, 200 F. Supp. 2d 935; Campbell v. Eastland, 307 F.2d 478 (5th Cir. 

1962).  These are inapposite here, where the government has chosen to bring parallel civil and 

criminal actions, and where Mr. Nowak does not consent to the extensive stay that is sought.  As 

to the remainder of the cases on which the DOJ relies, one involved a motion for a stay of limited 

(not indefinite) duration, which was agreed to by almost all of the defendants.  See Bureerong v. 

Uvawas, 167 F.R.D. 83, 87 (C.D. Cal. 1996) (ordering a stay “likely to last only three to four 

months,” over the opposition of just two of the more than twenty defendants).  The other 

involved a motion to stay two depositions—inapplicable here, where Mr. Nowak proposes that 

only document discovery proceed.  See S.E.C. v. Treadway, No. 04 Civ.3464 VM JCF, 2005 WL 

713826, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 2005) (state attorney-general sought to stay the depositions of 

two of the prosecution’s anticipated criminal trial witnesses, with other fact discovery to 

continue). 

B. A Blanket Stay Would Prejudice the Defendants 

For the reasons set out above, the DOJ has not established the requisite “special 

circumstances” or the threat of “substantial and irreparable prejudice” that would justify a stay 

with respect to civil discovery.  See Benevolence Int’l, 200 F. Supp. 2d at 938.  In fact, the 

complete stay sought by the government, through the conclusion of the Criminal Case, would 

prejudice the defendants because it would delay time-consuming discovery and thus further 

delay the resolution of this action—even after the Criminal Case concludes.  This burden on the 
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defendants counsels in favor of permitting some discovery to proceed, while otherwise staying 

the action. 

In ruling on motions to stay, courts consider that while simultaneous proceedings may 

cause some hardship to the government, “such a generalized concern does not, in and of itself, 

outweigh the very real hardship that will be visited upon Defendants if the civil case is stayed 

completely.”  Fraser, 2009 WL 1531854, at *3 (citing Sandifur, 2006 WL 3692611, at *3).  

Moreover, courts recognize that where “[t]he civil case, like the criminal case, asserts serious 

violations,” a blanket stay “will substantially prejudice [d]efendants’ interest in the speedy 

resolution of the . . . claims against them.”  Id.; see also Sandifur, 2006 WL 3692611, at *3; 

S.E.C. v. Jones, 04 Civ. 4385(RWS), 2005 WL 2837462, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 28, 2005) 

(explaining that defendant “deserves a timely opportunity to clear his name” and noting negative 

impact of pending litigation). 

Beyond the defendants’ interests, “the interests of non-parties[] and the public at large” 

are best served by bringing “both matters . . . to a conclusion in an expeditious manner.”  

Johnson, 2013 WL 3155311, at *4; see also C.F.T.C. v. Hartshorn, 16-cv-09802, Dkt. No. 51, at 

2 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 11, 2019) (letter in which the CFTC, opposing a request for a stay, argued that 

a stay “would be prejudicial to the Commission and not in the public interest because it would 

indefinitely delay discovery”); Arden Way Assocs. v. Boesky, 660 F. Supp. 1494, 1500 (S.D.N.Y. 

1987) (“[P]ublic interest in the integrity of securities markets militates in favor of the efficient 

and expeditious prosecution of [] civil litigations.”).  Even where a matter may be stayed in some 

respects, courts have recognized the benefit of proceeding with discovery so that a civil trial can 

proceed as promptly as possible upon the conclusion of the criminal case.  See C.F.T.C. v. 

Vorley, No. 18-cv-00603, Dkt. No. 43, at 8–9, 16–18 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 10, 2018) (Pallmeyer, C.J.) 
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(proceeding with document discovery in response to defendants’ argument that a stay would 

further delay the case’s resolution); O’Neill, 98 F. Supp. 3d at 225 (granting stay with respect to 

a defendant’s deposition but otherwise declining to stay civil proceeding). 

There can be no question that the allegations in the CFTC Case are serious:  They parallel 

certain of the charges in the Criminal Case, and they cover a seven-year period.  The defendants 

have a strong interest in confronting these allegations and in clearing their names as soon as is 

reasonably possible.  Proceeding with some civil discovery now, while the Criminal Case 

proceeds, will help the defendants to be ready for trial in this case as promptly as possible upon 

the conclusion of the Criminal Case, while balancing the competing interests.  Waiting to begin 

that process not only ensures that the delay will extend well beyond the conclusion of the 

Criminal Case, but also increases the risk that relevant documents will be lost, destroyed, or 

otherwise unavailable by the time the defendants are empowered to seek them. 

The result Mr. Nowak proposes here is consistent with the outcome of the DOJ’s motion 

to stay in C.F.T.C. v. Vorley, a case with a somewhat similar posture and similar allegations.  No. 

18-cv-00603 (N.D. Ill.).  There, as here, the DOJ sought a complete stay of the CFTC action 

pending resolution of a parallel federal criminal case.  Id., Dkt. No. 35 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 3, 2018); 

see generally United States v. Vorley, No. 18-cr-00035, Dkt. No. 12 (N.D. Ill. July 24, 2018).  In 

their memorandum opposing the DOJ’s motion, Vorley and his co-defendant argued that a 

blanket stay would “force[] [them] to endure even greater delays,” and that a narrower stay 

would protect them from prejudice.  C.F.T.C. v. Vorley, No. 18-cv-00603, Dkt. No. 39, at 8–9 

(N.D. Ill. Aug. 10, 2018).  At oral argument on the matter, defense counsel argued—among other 

things—that, at a minimum, document discovery should proceed.  Id., Dkt. No. 43, at 16–18 
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(N.D. Ill. Aug. 22, 2018).  Chief Judge Pallmeyer agreed and ordered the case stayed except for 

document discovery.  Id. at 18; id., Dkt. No. 42 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 16, 2018). 

The same result is appropriate here.  There is no reason to delay the lengthy process of 

document discovery, which will not prejudice the DOJ, and which will allow the CFTC Case to 

proceed as expeditiously as possible following the close of the Criminal Case. 

IV.  CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, we ask that the Court deny the DOJ’s motion and instead stay 

this action except for document discovery. 

 

Dated: November 27, 2019 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 /s/ David Meister    

David Meister 

Jocelyn E. Strauber 

Chad E. Silverman 

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP 

Four Times Square 

New York, NY 10036 

(212) 735-2100 

William E. Ridgway 

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP 

155 North Wacker Drive 

Chicago, IL 60606 

(312) 407-0449 

Counsel for Michael Nowak 
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